**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

ORIGINAL

**APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas**

**D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge**

**Case No. 2011-CP-23-04585
Appellate Case No. 2013-000666**

James L. Dawkins and Delphine Dawkins Appellants,

v.

Troy Lee Watts, Jr.. Respondent.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Donald R. Moorhead
Donald R. Moorhead, P.A.
880 S. Pleasantburg Drive, 3-A
Greenville, SC 29607
(864) 242-9999

S

Cynthia B. Patterson
P.O. Box 6786
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 790-2688

Attorneys for Appellants

RECEIVED

JUN 23 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an admitted case of negligence. (R.7 & R.14 - Complaint & Answer; R.686) On September 24, 2008, Respondent Troy Lee Watts, Jr. (Watts) caused a motor vehicle collision between his vehicle and the vehicle owned and operated by James L. Dawkins (Dawkins) (R.7 & R.14 - Complaint & Answer).

Watts' primary carrier paid Dawkins \$25,000 in exchange for a covenant not to execute - of which Dawkins received \$10,000. (R.7 - Complaint; R.578-579 - Tr. 115-16) Thereafter, Dawkins sued Watts seeking underinsured benefits. (R.7 - Complaint) The attorney representing State Farm, the underinsured carrier, elected to defend the case in Watts' name. (R.14 - Answer)

Following the trial and after deliberating for forty minutes, the jury returned a verdict of zero dollars for Dawkins and found for Watts.¹ (R.741 - Tr.278)

Dawkins filed a Motion for New Trial Nisi Additur or in the Alternative Motion for New Trial as to Damages Only. (R.882 - Motion) The court denied the motion. (R.3 - Order at 1) This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Immediately following the September 24, 2008 accident, an ambulance transported Dawkins to the Greer Memorial Emergency Room after his spine was immobilized by backboards and neck blocks. (R.554 -56 - Tr.91 - 93) He was treated and released. (R.556 - Tr.93) On September 27, 2008, Dawkins was again treated at St. Francis Women's Hospital Emergency Room. (R.556 - Tr.93) Later, he was treated by various providers

¹ The zero verdict on Delphine Dawkins' loss of consortium claim is not being appealed. References to Dawkins only refer to James Dawkins.

including North Hills Medical Clinic, by Dr. Stephen Geary at Steadman Hawkins Orthopaedic group, and Dr. Timothy McHenry for his neck and his back. (R.556-57 - Tr.93 - 94)

In that collision, and admitted by Respondent, Dawkins' vehicle sustained \$3,893.49 damage, and Watts' vehicle was a total loss. (R.554 - Tr.91) Dawkins incurred medical bills of \$21,680.61. (R.749 - Plaintiff's 2)

Dr. McHenry testified by video deposition that the injuries to Dawkins' cervical spine and low back problems were the direct and proximate result of the automobile collision of September 24, 2008. (R.374 - Depo.13) Dr. McHenry also testified that as a result of the automobile collision of September 24, 2008, Dawkins needed cervical and lumbar surgeries. (R.374 - Depo.13) He specified the type of surgery, the medications, the physical therapy visits, radiographic studies and other ancillary services which would be necessary for the surgeries. (R.374 -77 - Depo. 13-16)

Penny Cates, a certified life care and medical cost projection expert testified that the cervical surgery, including the ancillary services would cost \$104,213.00 in present day dollars. (R.522 - Tr.59) Ms. Cates further testified that the lumbar surgery would amount to the sum of \$119,203.00, including ancillary services, for a total of \$223,416.00. (R.536-542 - Tr.73 - 79)

ISSUE ON APPEAL

A. Did the trial court err by refusing to grant a new trial where liability was admitted, yet the jury returned a verdict for zero damages?

i. Did the trial court err by allowing defense counsel in this UIM case to refer

to Watts as his client who deserves his one and only fair day in Court and by denying Dawkins the ability to correct this misrepresentation?

ii. Did the trial court err by allowing defense counsel to present evidence that Dawkins was on disability eleven years prior to the accident?

iii. Did the trial court err by allowing evidence that in June 2009 Dawkins may have had health insurance?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court must grant a new trial if the amount of the verdict is so grossly inadequate or excessive so as to shock the conscience of the court and clearly indicates the figure was the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, partiality, corruption, or some other improper motive. Sullivan v. Davis, 317 S.C. 462, 454 S.E.2d 907 (Ct. App. 1997); Dillon v. Frazer, 383 S.C. 9, 678 S.E.2d 251 (2009). Moreover, the trial court must ensure a plaintiff receives an award of damages where liability is admitted unless proof completely fails. Page v. Crisp, 303 S.C. 117, 399 S.E.2d 161 (Ct. App. 1990).

The admission of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of that discretion. Hofer v. St. Clair, 298 S.C. 503, 381 S.E.2d 736 (1989). Evidence is relevant and admissible if it tends to establish or to make more or less probable some matter in issue. Id.; Associate Management, Inc. v. E.D. Sauls Const. Co., 279 S.C. 219, 305 S.E.2d 236 (1983). See also Washington v. Whitaker, 451 S.E.2d 894, 317 S.C. 108 (1994).

ARGUMENT

A. The trial court erred by refusing to grant a new trial where liability was admitted, yet the jury returned a verdict for zero damages.

In this case, liability was admitted. (R.14) The only evidence - the medical opinions

- indicate the injuries sustained were the result of the accident. (R.368, 382, 403, et seq.)

Simply put, the proof does not completely fail. Accordingly, Dawkins is entitled to an award as a matter of law. The trial court erred by not granting the request for additur or new trial.

“When liability is admitted . . . a [p]laintiff is entitled to an award unless proof completely fails.” Page v. Crisp, 303 S.C. 117, 399 S.E.2d 161 (Ct. App. 1990).

Where liability was admitted and there were undisputed immediate damages to both Dawkins and his vehicle (R.748-754, 686), the jury’s verdict of zero damages could only have been the result of passion or caprice. Further indicating the jury’s refusal to obey the law as charged is that the verdict form found for Watts (R.6) - even though liability was admitted. (R.14) Under these circumstances, the trial court was obligated to grant a new trial. Watts was clearly responsible and admitted responsibility for the damages to Dawkins’ vehicle, the ambulance ride, the initial emergency room visit, etc. The jury was obviously motivated by something other than the law as charged to them.

“Evidence is relevant and admissible if it tends to establish or to make more or less probable some matter in issue.” Washington v. Whitaker, 451 S.E.2d 894, 317 S.C. 108 (1994). Dawkins submits the following three sources of this passion, caprice, prejudice, partiality, corruption, or some other improper motive. He further asserts the admission of this testimony did not make any issue more or less probably and served only to sway the jury. Accordingly, Dawkins is entitled to a new trial.

i. The trial court erred by allowing defense counsel in this UIM case to refer to Watts as his client who deserves his one and only fair day in Court and denying Dawkins the ability to correct this misrepresentation.

At the trial of the case, defense counsel repeatedly referred to Watts as his client who

deserved a fair day in court, which would be his only day in court. (R.511) Dawkins' counsel moved the court to be allowed to bring into evidence that such references were misrepresentations. Dawkins' counsel further requested that he be allowed to question Watts as to what, if anything, did he have at stake in the trial of the case. (R.582-83) Dawkins' counsel requested that the true nature of the released and the cause of action, including the fact that State Farm was the true defendant. (R.582) Dawkins' argument was that defense counsel opened the door, so to speak, when he argued that Watts was his client. (R.582) The court denied that Motion. (R.583)

Defense counsel's statement was a misrepresentation of the facts. Defense counsel does not nor has he ever represented Watts who is released from any liability on a Covenant Not To Execute in return for his liability insurance company (which is not State Farm) paying the policy limits of \$25,000.00. (R.582-83) Defense counsel opened the door to having the true parties be disclosed to the jury when he attempted to curry favor for Watts in order to reduce the exposure of his client, State Farm. (R.582-83) The jury should have been able to hear that Watts was not the client of defense counsel and to hear that State Farm is the client of defense counsel.

The continued references to Watts as the true defendant led to the jury's sympathy for the young man. This is evidenced by the jury refusing to award even those damages for which Watts was admittedly responsible.

ii. The trial court erred by allowing defense counsel to present evidence that Dawkins was previously on disability.

Prior to trial, Dawkins' counsel made a motion in limine asking that defense counsel

not bring up the fact that Dawkins was on disability at the time of the accident, and/or that he would have been on Medicare or Medicaid at the time of the accident. (R.626) As it turns out, Dawkins was not on disability, Medicare, or Medicaid at the time of the accident. (R.626) As such, defense counsel agreed to that motion in limine. (R.627) Furthermore, defense counsel specifically asked the court to instruct all individuals who were going to testify to specifically not make any reference to automobile insurance, being paid or otherwise, in their responses to questions. (R.627) The Court agreed and instructed all parties to comply with its order. Nevertheless, testimony regarding his disability eleven years prior came into evidence. (R.628)

Such evidence was of great surprise to Dawkins who did not have the ability to adequately address to the jury evidence to contradict or clarify the evidence introduced by the defense counsel. Dawkins' counsel had made a Motion in Limine to prevent such evidence be introduced or any attempt to introduce such evidence be prohibited. (R.626) The Motion in Limine was granted, (R.626) but defense counsel cross-examined Dawkins on that very issue, (R.628) and the Court over-ruled Dawkins' counsel's objection. (R.630-32)

Such evidence was also highly prejudicial and irrelevant because Dawkins was not on disability at the time of the trial and, in fact, had not been on disability since 1997, some eleven years prior to this automobile collision. (R.664) As Dawkins' counsel argued to the court, the reference to disability and reference to evidence as to Dawkins being on disability at some point in time was irrelevant and highly prejudicial. (R.630) It raises the specter of entitlement to Medicare or Medicaid, which is also irrelevant and highly prejudicial.

Dawkins' counsel argued that there was no way he would overcome that prejudicial evidence with each of the twelve jurors. (R.630) The court over-ruled Dawkins' objection, and the evidence came in. (R.628-29)

Moreover, any probative value which such evidence may have had (and Dawkins does not admit that it had any) was outweighed by the highly prejudicial nature of that evidence. That opposing counsel contended the various and sundry ailments were preexisting and not as a result of the accident does not require proof of social security disability eleven years prior. The court erred by allowing this testimony into evidence as it prejudiced the jury as is indicated by their refusal to award admitted damages in this admitted liability case.

iii. The trial court erred by allowing evidence that in June 2009 Dawkins may have had health insurance.

Dawkins, at the time of trial, had no health insurance or any other source of payment for the surgeries that Dr. McHenry testified Dawkins needed as a direct and proximate result of the accident. (R.558) Nevertheless, the court allowed defense counsel to introduce evidence that Dawkins had health care insurance coverage three years and seven months prior to the trial of the case, i.e., June of 2009. (R.565)

First of all, such benefits are a collateral source and totally irrelevant to damages which should be considered by the jury. Dawkins was surprised and highly prejudiced by the introduction of such evidence. Moreover, Dawkins was denied an opportunity to rebut such evidence with a showing that any monies paid by Blue Cross Blue Shield for injuries sustained in the automobile collision would be recouped by Blue Cross Blue Shield.

Second, the question posed by Dawkins' counsel at the trial of the case was whether he has the ability (present tense) to pay for the surgeries which he requires. The evidence introduced by defense counsel pertained to coverage which may have been in effect in June of 2009, over three years and seven months from the date of the trial.

Moreover, any probative value which such evidence may have had (and Dawkins does not admit that it has any) was outweighed by the highly prejudicial nature of said evidence.

Defense counsel discussed the fact that Dawkins had been cleared for surgery but refused to go through with the same. He explained that he could not have surgery because he did not have the funds to pay for the same. According to the defense, Dawkins clearly had BC/BS at the time of the accident and at the time that the surgery was scheduled. Such was not the case and there is no evidence to support this. They continue, Dawkins also had \$10K available to him to apply to any deductibles.

Opposing counsel maintains Dawkins understated the length, degree, and nature of his preexisting conditions while overstating the same regarding his post-accident problems. Coupled with the alleged availability of insurance and the \$10K, opposing counsel suggests Dawkins was less than truthful about having the surgery had funds been available. The defense concludes: "All of these statements were incorrect and severely hurt their credibility, as well as the credibility of the case." The fact remains, however, this was an admitted liability case with undisputed damages directly linked to and incurred the day of the accident. The only evidence in the record is that Dawkins needs surgery to his neck as that it getting worse and may become permanent. The only evidence in the record is that Dawkins may

need another surgery to his back, but that is a pain issue.

Because of the evidentiary errors made in this case, their cumulative effect, and the irrelevant and highly prejudicial nature of said evidence, it is clear that the verdict of the jury was based upon passion, caprice, prejudice or some other improper motive. It is clear that the irrelevant and highly prejudicial evidence regarding disability and Blue Cross Blue Shield coverage at the very remote point in time, and the misrepresentation of defense counsel that Watts was his client, resulted in the grossly inadequate verdict of the jury.

CONCLUSION

All of the medical evidence clearly established that Dawkins injured not only his neck, back, but also his left shoulder in the collision which occurred in this accident. There is no evidence to refute that - medical or otherwise. It was admitted by Dawkins that he had previous low back problems and had surgery for that, but in the twenty-five years since he had reached maximum medical healing with regard to that injury, he had neither seen an orthopaedic surgeon nor required surgery, until this motor vehicle collision. Uncontradicted testimony of the treating orthopaedic surgeon was that Dawkins needed an additional low back surgery as a direct and proximate result of the motor vehicle collision.

Further, there was no evidence of previous injuries or maladies to Dawkins' cervical spine. All of the medical evidence establishes that in this automobile collision Dawkins injured his spine and that he needs surgery as a result thereof. This evidence is uncontradicted. The cost of the cervical spinal surgery alone and ancillary services as established by the testimony of Penny Cates, certified life care planner and medical cost projector is \$104,213. (R.744-48) In addition to the cost of the surgery there are significant general damages in the form of pain and suffering and mental anguish which undoubtedly are associated with surgery and recovery time. Moreover, there are the general damages which Dawkins has suffered in the four and a half years since this accident.

Under these circumstances, Dawkins respectfully requests this Court order a new trial.