IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-23-04585
Appellate Case No. 2013-000666

James L. Dawkins and Delphine Dawkins,Appellant,

v.

Troy Lee Watts, Jr.,Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

Marcus K. McGarr, Esq.
MARCUS K. MCGARR, P.A.
S.C. Bar No.: 011885
108 Whitsett Street
Greenville, S.C. 29601
Telephone: (864) 298-0089
Facsimile: (864) 235-0503
Attorney for Respondents

September 19, 2014

RECEIVED

SEP 24 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENTS

A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY REFUSING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL WHERE NEGLIGENCE WAS ADMITTED, YET THE JURY RETURNED A VERDICT FOR THE DEFENDANT.

Mr. Dawkins is somewhat confused as to the facts regarding this issue. The jury was presented with the evidence noted above, and returned its verdict for the defendant against both of the Dawkinses. Please remember that the defendants never admitted liability for any damages to the plaintiffs. The Dawkinses then asked the Trial Court to grant them a new trial nisi additur, or, in the alternative, a new trial as to damages only. These requests were properly denied.

The grant or denial of new trial motions rests within the discretion of the trial judge and his decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless his findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law. *Umhoefer v. Bollinger*, 298 S.C. 221, 379 S.E.2d 296 (Ct.App.1989). See also *Boozer v. Boozer*, 300 S.C. 282, 387 S.E.2d 674 (Ct.App. 1988) (Court of Appeals has no power to review trial court's ruling unless it rests on the basis of fact wholly unsupported by evidence or is controlled by error of law). In deciding whether to assess

error to a court's denial of a motion for a new trial, we must consider the testimony and reasonable inference to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Umhoefer*, supra. While the trial judge may not impose his will on a party by substituting his judgement for that of the jury, he may give the party an option in the way of additur or remittur, or, in the alternative, a new trial. *Jones v. Ingles Supermarkets, Inc.*, 293 S.C. 490, 361 S.E.2d 775 (Ct.App. 1987). The consideration of a motion for a new trial nisi additur requires the trial judge to consider the adequacy of the verdict in the light of the evidence presented. *Patterson v. Reid*, 319 S.C. 183, 456 S.E.2d 436 (Ct.App. 1995). The trial judge who heard the evidence and is more familiar with the evidentiary atmosphere at trial possesses a better-informed view of the damages than this Court. *Rush v. Blanchard*, 310 S.C. 375, 426 S.E.2d 802 (1993). Accordingly, great deference is given to the trial judge. *Id.* Finally, the denial of a motion for a new trial nisi is within the trial judge's discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *O'Neal v. Bowles*, 314 S.C. 525, 431 S.E.2d 555 (1993).

In short, the evidence demanded a verdict in favor of the defendant. The Trial Court correctly refused the plaintiffs' motions, and there was no abuse of discretion. Indeed, to have ruled otherwise would have been an abuse of the Trial Court's discretion.

If the above were not true, the following still applies. The jury was presented with evidence that Mr. Dawkins had suffered from longstanding, preexisting conditions. Furthermore, he initially claimed to be uninjured when he spoke to Mr. Watts, after the accident. Thereafter, when Mr. Dawkins did claim an injury, it did not include his neck or back. He then proceeded to go to physical therapy, wherein the physical therapist essentially stated that Mr. Dawkins appeared to be alleging an injury that did not exist. He was then discharged from physical therapy for being noncompliant. Thereafter, he was scheduled for a surgery that he never actually received. This was

done despite the fact that he had the ability to pay for the surgery. Thereafter, his complaints seemed to diminish and/or resolve completely.

Counsel for appellant is correct in so far as all of this information was produced without the use of an expert on behalf of the defendant. However, one must recognize that a defendant is not required to produce an expert when contradicting the testimony of a plaintiff and/or his or her expert or experts.

Appellant is incorrect when characterizing the Jury's verdict. The jury was presented with the evidence, and actually returned a verdict as follows:

1. We the jury, by unanimous consent find:

\$ 0 actual damages.

✓ for defendant, Troy Lee Watts, Jr., and,

2. We the jury, by unanimous consent find:

\$ 0 actual damages.

✓ for defendant, Troy Lee Watts, Jr.

In essence, please recognize that the jury did not simply return a verdict for zero damages. In fact, it found for the defendant and underscored the decision by awarding zero damages to both plaintiffs.

Once the jury returned its verdict, the Court asked the Dawkinses if they wanted to hold the jurors so as to make motions. The Dawkinses declined this request.

The issues associated with the defendant having to bring its own expert is settled in the law. "A jury can disregard an expert's opinion, entirely, if the reasons given in support of the opinion are not sound, or that the opinion is outweighed by other evidence. An expert witness's testimony is to be given no greater weight than that of other witnesses simply because the witness

is an expert, and a jury does not have to accept an expert's opinion even though it is uncontradicted." *Berkeley Elec Coop., Inc. v. South Carolina Public Serv. Comm'n* 304 S.C. 15, 402 S.E.2d 674 (S.C. 1991). In fact, the Court of Appeals has issued a ruling exactly on this point. The case in question is *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 477 S.E.2d 715 (S.C.App. 1996). The *Vinson* Court ruled that a defendant need not bring any experts of it's own. In fact, the *Vinson* Court specifically approved the type of cross-examination of experts and lay people as was done in this case. Furthermore , our courts have also given us guidance in cases where the jury has actually returned a verdict where liability was established, yet zero damages were awarded to the plaintiff. Again, contrary to the assertion of the appellant, this case involved defendants who admitted negligence only. Regardless, in *Stevens v. Allen*, 242 S.C. 47, 536 S.E.2d 663 (S.C. 2000) the jury was presented with a factually inconsistent verdict. In that case, Stevens had brought suit against Allen, wherein is was alleged that Allen was driving a vehicle which caused the death of Stevens. The jury returned a verdict stating both Stevens and Allen were fifty percent negligent, yet it awarded Stevens zero damages. The Trial Court was then asked to resubmit the verdict to the jury, as the verdicts were inconsistent. The court denied that motion. The Court of Appeals then reversed the Trial Court, and the matter ultimately went before the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court then told us that a court, when presented with an inconsistent verdict, and after an objection is raised by the party suffering as a result of the inconsistent verdict, is to resubmit the matter to the jury. Thereafter, the Court must inform the jury that it must return a verdict in favor of the defendant, or award the plaintiff at least some nominal amount of damages. After the jury returns its revised verdict, it is within the provence of the Trial Court to order a new trial nisi or a now trial absolute.

Again, this case has no issue of an inconsistent verdict. The jury found for the defendant

with regard to both plaintiffs, and underscored that fact by putting a "0" in the actual damages portion of the verdict form column. Even if it could be argued that the verdicts were inconsistent, the proper means for resolving that inconsistency is to ask the court to resubmit the case to the jury, and have the same direct the jury to render a verdict for defendant or the plaintiff in at least a nominal amount. The Court gave the Dawkinses this opportunity, and the Dawkinses stated that the jurors could leave. Just as important, the Dawkinses never objected to the form of the verdict, nor did they mention an inconsistency. Under these circumstances, the Court has no choice but to allow the allegedly inconsistent verdict to stand. Again, one must raise the objection and make the request at a time wherein the matter can be appropriately addressed. In essence, the Dawkinses failed to preserve the alleged inconsistency for appeal and, as such, cannot raise the same at this time.

In conclusion, the jury's verdict was not inconsistent. That fact is why no objections were raised, and why no requests to make the verdict consistent were made. Consequently, the Court then properly refused to grant the Dawkins' post trial motions.

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY ALLOWING DEFENSE COUNSEL TO REFER TO WATTS AS HIS CLIENT WHO DESERVES HIS ONE AND ONLY FAIR DAY IN COURT.

Again, despite the appellant's assertion, defense counsel represented both Mr. Watts and State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company. This information was clearly set forth in the Answer to the Complaint, and it did not change at any point during the course of litigation. Even if this were not the case, and defense counsel only represented the underinsured carrier, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, South Carolina's law clearly allows the underinsured carrier to appear and defend in the name of the underinsured motorist. Again, defense counsel

represented Mr. Watts, and that representation was apparent from the moment the Answer was filed.

S.C. Code Ann. Section 38-77-160 states, in pertinent part, “The insurer has the right to appear and defend in the name of the underinsured motorist in any action which may affect its liability and has thirty days after service of process on it in which to appear.”

To preserve an issue for appellate review, the issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the Trial Court. *Durham v. Vinson*, 360 S.C. 369, 602 S.E.2d 360 (S.C. 2004). An issue not raised at trial is waived on appeal. If counsel fails to make an offer of proof regarding excluded evidence, there is nothing to review on appeal. In the absence of any indication that the excluded testimony would have benefitted the appellant, the error is harmless. *State v. Harris*, 311 S.C. 162, 427 S.E.2d 209 (S.C. App. 1993).

Again, no misrepresentation as to Mr. Watts’s status existed. Mr. Watts was represented by defense counsel. This was made evident by and through defense counsel’s Answer, (R. pp. 14-17) and in Mr. Watts’s opening statement. The Dawkinses did not object to the opening statement. (R. p. 505, line 12 – p. 506, line 3 and R. p. 511, lines 6-22) In fact, the issue first appeared during the cross-examination of Mr. Watts. At that point, plaintiffs’ counsel stated to Mr. Watts, “Now, at the beginning of the case, Mr. McGarr said that this was Troy’s day in court. He was referring to you?” Mr. Watts then responded affirmatively. Plaintiffs’ counsel then stated, “...and he, (meaning McGarr), referred to you as his client?” In response to that question, Mr. Watts again answered affirmatively. (R. p. 691, line 24 – p. 692, line 4) Thereafter, the attorneys then engaged in a bench conference, after which point the “issue” was never presented again, secondary to the fact that Mr. Watts was represented by defense counsel. (R. p. 692, lines 5-25) Furthermore, even if Mr. Watts were not represented by defense counsel, it would have been incumbent upon the Dawkinses to raise that issue before the Court, and on the record. If the court had ruled, and had ruled against the

Dawkinses, then they would have needed to proffer the testimony for which they felt was important. In the case before the Court, none of this occurred. In essence, even if Mr. Watts were not Mr. McGarr's client, issues associated with the lack of an attorney-client relationship were not preserved for appeal.

Again, Mr. Watts was and remains defense counsel's client. Regardless of whether or not Mr. Watts was defense counsel's client, an underinsured defendant has the right to appear and defend in the name of Mr. Watts, as set forth by the laws of South Carolina.

Finally, even if all of the above were not true, this "issue" was not preserved for appeal, and is not properly before the Court.

ii. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING DEFENSE COUNSEL TO PRESENT EVIDENCE THAT DAWKINS WAS PREVIOUSLY ON DISABILITY.

Unfortunately, Mr. Dawkins is again confused as to this issue. A motion in limine was made to prevent defense counsel from questioning Mr. Dawkins's medical expert with regard to Mr. Dawkins having been or being on disability. Defense counsel then explained that he was under the misapprehension that Mr. Dawkins was on disability at the time he was being treated by the medical expert. This turned out to be incorrect, and defense counsel volunteered to remove that line of questioning from the expert's deposition. During that motion in limine, there was no mention of removing Mr. Dawkins's disability status, secondary to the previous severity of his low back pain. (R. p. 468, line 12 – p. 469, line 9) Unfortunately, during direct and cross-examination, Mr. Dawkins, surprisingly, indicated that he had experienced back problems, prior to the automobile accident in question. However, those back problems were not as severe as they were after the accident. When the issue of prior disability was about to be presented, plaintiffs' counsel made a motion to exclude that evidence. The Court then had defense counsel proffer the questions that he

would be asking. Thereafter, the Court agreed that the issue of disability was relevant, and would not confuse the jury. Defense counsel then asked Mr. Dawkins if he had, in fact, stated that his problems were more severe after the automobile accident than they had been before the accident. Mr. Dawkins replied affirmatively. As such, defense counsel asked Mr. Dawkins if his prior back problems had, at one point, caused him to be disabled to the point that he was incapable of working in any capacity, and on total and permanent disability. Mr. Dawkins again responded affirmatively.

It is well settled that the admission and rejection of testimony are matters largely within the trial court's sound discretion, the exercise of which will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. *Burrows v. Worsham*, 352 S.C. 382, 574 S.E.2d 215 (S.C.App. 2002). A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative, probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. *Lee v. Bunch*, 373 S.C. 654, 647 S.E.2d 195 (S.C. 2007).

Mr. Watts alleged, in his Answer, that Mr. Dawkins's problems, if in existence, were preexisting in nature. As such, the nature and extent of Mr. Dawkins's preexisting conditions, including his back condition, would have been probative, regardless. However, it became extremely relevant when Mr. Dawkins told the jury that his preexisting conditions were insignificant compared to the problems he had suffered since the automobile accident. Mr. Dawkins then clearly testified that he continued to work after the automobile accident in question. However, it was made clear that a number of years before the accident, Mr. Dawkins's low back problems were so severe that he was disabled and incapable of working in any capacity whatsoever. Obviously, a jury cannot determine if someone has a preexisting condition, nor can it determine if a witness is credible, if it does not have this type of contextual evidence.

As a result, the Court correctly determined that the low back disability issue was relevant,

probative, and not prejudicial. The Court was absolutely correct. As such, the Court did not abuse its discretion.

iii. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING EVIDENCE THAT IN JUNE 2009 DAWKINS MAY HAVE HAD HEALTH INSURANCE.

During direct examination, Mr. Dawkins was asked if he and his doctor had discussed surgical intervention. Mr. Dawkins confirmed that surgery had been discussed, and that it had been determined that he needed surgery on his neck and low back. However, and somewhat surprisingly, he then advised the jury that he lacked the necessary funds required to pay for those surgeries. Upon cross-examination, this question was raised again. In response, Mr. Dawkins again stated that he did not have the money to pay for neck and back surgery. It is important to remember that this statement was being made in January of 2013. The automobile accident in question took place in September of 2008, and Mr. Dawkins had been cleared to receive neck and back surgery by no later than May 26, 2009. The Trial Court then heard Mr. Dawkins's objections. None of these objections were related to the documents then being presented. It then required defense counsel to proffer the questions that would be asked. The Court thereafter ruled that, given the fact that Mr. Dawkins stated that he did not have the ability to pay for the surgeries in question, defense counsel would be allowed to discuss the fact that Mr. Dawkins had health insurance and access to at least \$10,000.00, at the time the surgeries were supposed to have been performed.

An identical matter was brought to the Court's attention in a *Bonaparte v. Floyd*, 291 S.C. 427, 354 S.E.2d 40 (S.C.App. 1987). In *Bonaparte*, Bonaparte testified on direct examination that she neglected follow up visits with her surgeon, Lutz, and her psychiatrist, Dr. Rosen, because she was financially unable to continue seeing them. The trial judge permitted opposing counsel to cross-examine Bonaparte regarding her medical insurance coverage, so as to impeach her testimony.

Bonaparte then alleged that the issue of medical insurance should not have been admitted, due to the lack of a sufficient foundation, and because it violated the collateral source rule. The Appellate Court unequivocally stated that such evidence had relevance to the testimony of the witness, and, as such, was admissible. In other words, the Court has stated that insurance and other collateral sources are admissible if a witness is alleging that he or she does not have the ability to pay for medical treatment. The same is true if a witness has received funds from a prior claim. This is seen in the case of *Rauch v. Zayas*, 284 S.C. 594, 327 S.E.2d 377 (S.C.App. 1985).

Obviously, under normal circumstances, collateral sources may not be brought to a jury's attention. However, if a witness opens the door by saying he or she could not pay for treatment secondary to a lack of funds, then collateral sources which could have been used for such payment are relevant and admissible. Again, the Trial Court's ruling on this issue was absolutely correct.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the Trial Court should be commended for ruling correctly on the issues properly set forth. Were it not for the appellants' misapprehension of both the facts and what was actually presented to the court, this matter probably would not have been appealed. Again, the Trial Court correctly ruled on the issues presented. Furthermore, it was incapable of ruling on the issues which are only now being presented. The Court then sent the matter to the jury. Consequently, the jury returned a rational and well-considered decision. As a result, the appellants' request should be denied. Given that there is no evidence of passion, caprice, prejudice, partiality, corruption, or other improper motive, the Court had no alternative but to let the jury's verdict stand.